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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Senior Hall, Stephens College campus, Columbia, Missouri, is a three-story plus
full basement, irregular-plan, red brick academic building of High Victorian Gothic
design facing north. Overall exterior dimensions are 136 x 112 feet. The gross
floor area is approximately 34,000 square feet. The foundation is cut stone.

The present building has resulted from a series of additions to an original, two-
story, brick residence, the Parker House, built in 1841. Major enlargements werec
made in 1870 (east wing) and 1890 (southwest wing). The additions have essentially
obscured the 1841 house.

The design and arrangement of doors and windows reflect the various construction
periods -- flat, stone lintels in the 1841 section, round-arched, brick lintels in
the 1870 section, and flat, stone Tintels in the 1890 section.

The hipped roof over the central and southwest sections is surfaced with asphalt
shingles. The east wing has a mansard roof, also presently covered with asphalt
shingles.

Distinctive architectural features include the square (1870) tower and the round (1890)
tower, decorative corbelled brickwork on the upper walls of the 1890 section, and a
wooden, front porch with second-story balustrade.

Interior

The main entrance still gives access to the 1841 house. The north-south central hall
floor plan with double parlors to the east and west survives. Numerous refurbish-
ment projects have, however, removed most of the original interior finish and the
stairway; the parlor fireplace mantels appear to date from the mid-nineteenth century.
An exterior west stairway provides access to the basement. Both the east and south-
west wings have wide stairways leading to the upper floors.

Alterations

01d photographs of the nuclear building reveal that it was a typical, quality,
out-state Missouri residence of its day -- a five-bay, two-story, ridge-roofed,
classically derived design with a center-bay porch.

The 1870 east addition with its mansard roof and square tower did not blend archi-
tecturally with the Parker residence. This incompatibility was dealt with in the
1890 addition which engulfed the original house, extending to the south and west and
adding a third story and a hipped roof to the old house.

Further southern additions were completed since 1900 to the point where 1t was possible
to delineate 14 distinctive additions or major renovations. In the summer of 1975,

the college removed the post-1900 additions to Senior Hall leaving the earlier con-
struction. South windows and doorways, which had been bricked in to become partition
walls when additions were put on, were opened once again and rebuilt.



Form Nu 10-300a
(Rev 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
RECEIVED

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DATE ENTERED
SENIOR HALL

CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 1

The south and east exterior walls of the 1890 section, which had been altered and
partially removed as additions were constructed, were reconstructed using dry press
red brick salvaged from the demolished sections.

Current status

The college is planning to return the antiquated but structurally sound building to
active use by restoring its 1890 exterior appearance and refurbishing the interior
making much-needed improvement to the mechanical, electrical, and plumbing systems.
Wood trim and doors will be restored where necessary. It is anticipated that the
completed structure will contain 30 studio-office spaces and 11 Targe classrooms.

Site

Located at the center of Stephens College's old campus, Senior Hall is one of nine
buildings forming the Quadrangle Campus. While most of the buildings front the
streets bounding the quadrangle, Senior Hall and the adjoining Auditorium and
Gauntlett Hall (numbers 3, 4, and 5 respectively on the Site Plan Map) sit at the
center of the block.

The quadrangle is landscaped with trees and walkways creating a secluded pedestrian
area removed from the heavy traffic of Broadway to the north and College Avenue to
the east.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Senjor Hall is an important tangible remain of the founding and early history of
Stephens College and its predecessor institutions in Columbia, Missouri. The earliest
section of the building is one of the oldest existing structures in Columbia. The
additions of 1870 and 1890 were designed by well-known architects and reflect the
architectural influence and fashions of the period. The current renovation represents
a direct turnabout in the college's attitude toward the building which in the 1960's
was all but slated for demolition.

The nucleus of Senior Hall was the two-story, red brick residence of Oliver Parker
built in 1841.1 Parker, a native of New Hampshire, had established a store and post
office at Thrall's Prairie, about seven miles north of Columbia, in 1819. He married
Mary Louise Thrall, the daughter of Augustus Thrall. In 1821 he moved to Columbia
and opened a general merchandise store.

On August 21, 1841, he bought from Henry Cave for $800 the eight-acre tract bounded by
Broadway, College Avenue, and Locust and Waugh streets, on which he built his home.3
After his death in 1842, Parker's widow lived in the family home until March 4, 1856,
when she sold the property to Moss Prewitt for $5,000. Prewitt transferred it on

April 5, 1857 to the newly-formed Columbia Baptist Female College for the same price
he paid for it.%

The Columbia Baptist Female College turned over its properties to the Missouri Baptist
General Association in 1870 and became the official women's igstitution in Missouri of
that denomination. Its name was changed to Stephens College.® The college engaged

C.B. Clarke, a St. Louis architect, to prepare plans for the enlargement of the existing
building.b His design -- published in the Stephens College Catalogue of 1869-1870 --
called for the construction of a three-story, square tower on the east side and a two-
story, round tower on the west side of the original Parker residence. The east tower
was built in the summer of 1870 according to plan.

In 1890 the college hired M. Frederick Bell of Fulton, Missouri, to design the building
of the western portion of the college structure. His plan called for a three-story,
round tower at the northwest corner with a three-story ell extending southward for a
distance of 80 feet. It also provided for the addition of a third floor to the old
Parker House so that the whole edifice between the two flanking towers would have a
uniform three-story front.’/ Theodore LaCaff of Nevada, Missouri, was awarded the con-
tract in 1890 to implement Bell's construction directions.8

C.B. Clarke planned homes for wealthy clients in the St. Louis area.9 M.F. Bell was
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the major architect for the rebuilding of the Red Campus, "Francis Quadrangle," of
the University of Missouri following the 1892 fire; he also planned a number of other
state buildings.10 LaCaff served on the five-member State Capitol Commission Board,
under the chairmanship of Edwin W. Steph?qs, which supervised the construction of the
present state capitol in Jefferson City.

Until 1918 Senior Hall was the only dormitory at the College. Thousands of Stephens
students remember it as their college home. Even after other residence halls were
built, the upper classman continued to live in the oldest hall. It was the tradition
for the president of the Civic Association to occupy the first-floor room just north
of the Waugh-Street entrance to the west wing. '

Senior Hall is the College's tie with the past. Of all the buildings, it has beeh
most often employed in public relations to represent Stephens.

Many prominent people have been associated with Senior Hall. Mrs. George Caleb
Bingham and her daughter Clara lived and taught there during the 1859-1860 school
year.13 Bingham himself lived in Senior Hall in the winter of 1878-1879.14
Governor Herbert S. Hadley and his good roads party, on a tour of the 01d Trails
route, were entertained at dinner in Senior Hall on the evening of July 25, 1911.15
A number of famous journalists and political leaders, on campus to lecture in the
Stephens Foreign Relations series, have shared meals with their student hostesses in
the Senior Hall dining room. !

During the many years in which Senior Hall was a major residence for Stephens College
students, many well-known and famous women lived there while attending the college.
Among them are two nationally known actresses, Patricia White Barry, Los Angeles, and
Tammy Grimes, New York City, both actresses of stage, screen, and television. The
late Kathryn Journey, Higginsville, Missouri, with her sister Elizabeth; also a
Stephens graduate, was co-owner/manager of one of the state's few modern, continuously
growing, independent telephone companies in that town. Peggy Phillips Burris,
formerly of Columbia, Missouri, is currently director of information at Cedar Crest
College, Allentown, Pennsylvania, and a - past director of the news bureau of
Stephens College. Jean Clinton Roeschlaub, Los Angeles, is vice-president of the
Clifton Cafeteria chain in that city.

In 1975 two prominent alumae, Kate Stamper Wilhite, of Moberly, Missouri, and
Gertrude Buckley Windsor, of Boonville, Missouri, and Tyler, Texas, generously
donated funds to finance the renovation of Senior Hall and thus assure its continued
usefulness. Mrs. Windsor has restored an 1854 residence in Tyler for which she re-
ceived the first Texas Restoration Medal from the State Historical Survey Committee.
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The survey of Missouri's historic sites is based on the selection of sites as they
relate to theme studies in Missouri history as outlined in "Missouri's State Historic
Preservation Plan." Senior Hall is, therefore, being nominated to the National

Register of Historic Places as an example of the themes of "Architecture" and
"Education."
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